
Confessionandcomplicity:Margarita de
Austria,RichardHallen S.J., andthecourtof

Philip III”

MAGDALENA SÁNCHEZ

Womenhavenot faredverywell in the historiographyon courtpolitics
in early modernSpain.Scholarshavegenerallyassumedthatmen,be they
kings,councilorsof state,privados,or confessorscontrolledcourt life and
policy-making almost exclusively. A closer examination of Queen
Margaritade Austria, wife of Philip III (1598-1621), however,revealsthat
our ideasabout the early modern Spanishcourt have to be revised.
Womenwere at the centerof informal networksof influence in Spain.
They had regular accessto the king and to other representativesof the
male political world. Most importantly of alí, Spanishroyal womenwere
quite skilled at using their family connectionsand their supposedly
apolitical religious roles to voice their opinionsand influence policy
makingduring the reignof Philip III. No evaluationof politics in Spain in
the early modernperiodcan be completewithout an expandingnotion of
the court and the power royal womenexercisedwithin that court. Ibis
article takes up this task by examiningthe influenceof Margarita de
Austria at Philig 111’s court andher relationshipwitb her Jesuitconfessor,
RichardHallers

When Margarita de Austria arrived in Spain in 1599 to marry Philip
III, she broughtwith her Richard Haller, her GermanJesuitconfessor
1-laller was supposedto return to CentralEuropebecauseSpanishroyal
customdictatedthat the queenof Spainshould havea SpanishFranciscan

1 would [ike to bank Bernardo JoséGarcía García br bis comments and suggestions wbicb belped
me u revising tbis anide.

Qn Margarita de Austria and ber -ole al beSpanish court see, María Jesós Pérez Martín. Margarita
dc Austria. keioa de España (Madrid, [961).

tjuadc’raos dr historia Moderna, o 14, [33 [49. Editorial Complutense. Madrid, [993.
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confessor.3Nevertheless,Margarita was able to breakwith tradition and
keep her Jesuitconfessoruntil her death in 1611. She successfully
convincedher new husbandthat herdifficulties speakingCastilianmadeit
imperativefor her to have a German-speakingconfessor.In so doing,the
queenretainedacloseassociate,mentor,andfriend upon whom shecould
rely for both spiritual andpolitical advice. In turn, the AustrianHabsburgs
gained a strong spokesmanín Spain becauseRichard Haller also
continuouslyrepresentedAustrianHabsburginterestsat the Spanishcourt.

Margarita de Austria and Richard Haller were drawn into a close
relationshipwith each other upon arriving at the Spanishcourt. Both
queenand confessorfacedoppositionfrom Philip III’s royal favorite, the
Dukeof Lerma. The Dukeof Lermarecognizedthe crucial role playedby
the queen’sconfessorat the courtandthe potentialpowerof Margaritade
Austria. As early as 1599,Lerma hadencouragedPhilip 111 to replace
Haller with Fray Mateo de Burgos. a SpanishFranciscanpriest. Lerma
believed that Mateo de Burgos would be indebtedto him for the
appointmentandmight then report to Lerma the generalcontent of his
conversationswith the queen.4At the very least,Mateode Burgoscould
hopefully discourageor even preventthe queenfrom exercisingany
signifieantpolitical influenceatthe Spanishcourt. Moreover,by removing
RichardHaller from the court, Lermaeouldhelp preventthe formation of
an Austrian Habsburgcourt faction centeredaround the queen.Such a
faction could interfere with Lerma’scontrol over courtpolities.

Lerma’s plan to replaceHaller with Mateo de Burgoswas in keeping
with his policy of surroundingMargaritade Austriawith his own relatives
anddependentsin order to attempt to control her actionsandevenher
speech.5In 1600, Lerma convinced Philip III to replacethe Duchessof

Relazione di FrancescoSoranzo, II Octoher [602. in Nicolo Barozzi and Guglie[tno Berchel,
Relazion ¡ deg Ii Scan J§oronei Lene al Senata clagli Arnbasciato,’i Veor’ii nel Seco/a Decin-,oseclóno, Serie ¡
Spagna,vol. 1 (venice. [856), p. [62; Ciriaco PérezBustamante,Felipe III. 5cm/danza de un Monarca
Perfiles de una Privanza (Madrid. [950). p. 85. For the original insírucí ions concerningMargaret‘s
conlessor see, Haus-, [-Ini’-,und Staatsarchiv.vienna. (hereafterHI-ISTA}, Spanienvaria 3. lctter [ram
Guillén de San Clementelo ArchduchessMaria, [8 September[598. Seespecilical[y poiní #7: ‘‘Que podra
llevar un confessor de aqui a España.mascot, condicion, que se havrade [solverluegoporquc a lasRcynas
de España sesuele dar alía Conlescor de talescalidadescomoconvienc’ It 1< interesting lo note lhat when
Margarita de Austria and Phiiip III ‘s daughtcr.ihe Infanla María, went lo central Europe to marry
Perdinand III, sbe íook Falber Diego de Quiroga, her Spanish Capuchincontessor. Tite Atistrian
Hahshurgs attempted unsuccessfu[ly to replacethis conlbssor witl, an Ausirian Jesuil.See Robert Bireiey.
S.J., Religio,t aoci Palitics ¡o lite A ge <4 ¡he Caoit terrú/i ,rmalio,t , imperar Ecrdin aod II, WIhiato
t,amorrnaiuí S.J. aoci tite Earrnatiov¿ of Imperial Pohicv (Chapel Hill, North Carolitía, 1981), p. 161; John
[-1.El 1 iott, Tice (‘auca— 0<4<’ of Olivases. Tite ,Siote,snzan in a,, Age of í)echoe (New Boyen a nd London.
[986>,pp. 394-95.

Lerma fo[owed this same approach it, [608 when he advised Philip III to cítonse Luis de Aliaga a’
tus conlbssor. Aliaga baúlbeen Lermascunl’essor, andLerma[rusledthat in Aliagahe wou[d havea close
associale.Lerma’s plan backfired: ailhottgh Aliaga did win thc appoinlment, he proved to be une of
Lermaschief enemies and rivais al the Spanish cotín.

For Leonas use of a lainilial network at the Spanish court see, Antonio Feros Carrasco. “Gobierno
dc Corte y Patronazgo Real enel ReinadosIc Eclipe Iii ([598-161 8).” unpublished tesina de licenciatura
(Madrid. [986).
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Gandía, who hadbeenappointedby Philip II as camareramayor to
Margaritade Austria, with bis wife, the Duchessof Lerma. The poor
health of Lerma’s wife led Lerma to have her repiacedin 1601 by bis
síster,the Countessof Lemos.6 Lerma alsomaneuveredfor oneof bis
closestconfidantes,Pedrode Franqueza,to becomeMargaritade Austria’s
secretary.7In this way, Lerma hopedto control tbe queen’scorrespond-
enceand to monitor her activities. He also removedmostof the Austrian
ladies-in-waiting who had accompaniedMargarita de Austria from
CentralEuropeto Spainandtried very hard,but unsuccessfully,to remove
from the court the queen’sclosestlady-in-waiting and friend, Maria
SidoniaRiderer. Unableto removeher, Lermaarrangedfor her to marry a
Spanishnobleman,the Countof Barajas,on whom Lerma thought he
could countto preventcloseanddaily contactbetweenMaría Sidoniaand
the queen.Tbis move, bowever,proved uselessbecausethe two women
continuedto haveregularcontactwith eachother. Lermaalso went so far
as to telí thequeenthat shewasnot allowedto speakto her busbandabout
political mattersaL any time, especiallyduring private momentstogether
when no one else was thereto overhearthe queen’scomments.8Lerma
threatenedto [uve Philip III travel extensivelywithout the queen if she
refusedto comply with bis demands.9Nevertheless,the queenstill
managedto speakwith Philip III about familial andpolitical matters,and
to communicateher wishesandopinionsto him tbroughotherindividuals
suchas RichardHallerandthe royal almoner,DiegodeGuzmán.10

As Margaritafulfilled her wifely duty andbore Philip III children,she
gainedgreaterinfluencewith and affection from her husband.Philip now
felt indebtedto his young wife and was grateful to her for giving him
heirs. Ihis was particularlythe caseafter Margarita de Austria gayebirth
to their first son, the future Philip IV, in April 1605. So, for example,in
1606, Margaritade Austria openly questionedLerma’s political and
financial policies andwent so far as to warn Philip III that the Junta de
Desen-ipeño setup by Lermain 1603 Lo improve (te monarchy’sfinancial

Presunsablythe Iiiuchessof Leonasil[t,ess preventedher ron~ performing[serduties lul[y, duties
which includedsleeping u Ihe queensbedroom w[,enever Philip III was not presení. For the rules
governiogthe queenshouseho[d sce, Archivo Generaldel PalacioReal, SecciónHistórica, Caja 50,
Ordenanzasde Felipe II para la Casade [a ReinaDoñaAna, fols. 314-339v.For Philip [lIs rules br
Margarita de Atustriashonseholdsee, BibliotecaNacional (hcreafterBN). Madrid, Ms. [00?, “Etiquetas
dc [aCasade [aReirta,” 9 Ju[y 1602,fols. [-75v.

Franquezareceivedtheappointmentas thequeenssecretaryin [6(12.
BN. Madrid, Ms. 2752. “1-listoria deJoanRevenhullerdeAiche[berg.” Pp. 1140-41.
For Phi[ip [¡‘5 travels during the firsí lew yearsuf bis reign see,BN, Madrid, Ms. 2347, ‘‘Las

Jorruadasque ha hecho Su Magd bIs. 343-358.See alsoPatrick Williao,s. “Lerma, Oíd Castile andtbe
Travelsof Philip III of Spain.”lIislory, vol. 73,n. 239 (Oclober[988). pp. 379-97.

<O Qn Diego de Guzmán.see bis “Memorias del CardenalDiego de Guzmán.”Real Academiade la
Historia(hereafterRAIl), Madrid, Coleeciót, Salazar.9/476 and 9/477. Seealso Diego Onu de zúñiga.
Asiales fil lcsia,sri, n.< y Se, alares de la roo’ uoble y ntoy leal Ciuct,d de 5e<‘lila (Madrid, 1677).Pp. 645—59.
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situationhad only worsenedSpain’seconomicproblems)’ Margaritawas
probably alsoat least partly responsiblefor the first political crisis of the
Duke of Lerma’stenure: the arrestandtrial of her seeretaryandLerma’s
close associate,Pedro de Franqueza,in 1607.12In the choiceof her
confessor,as in other ways, the Duke of Lerína was not successfulin
imposinghis will on Margarita1 a testimonyto the strongcharacterof the
young queenand to the genuineaffection which quickly developed
betweenMargaritade Austria and Philip III.

Facedwith a mutual enemy in Lerma, Margarita de Austria and
Richard Haller formed a closebond. Both individuals had an ambivalent
attitude towardthe Spanishcourt. The queenwas only fifteen yearsoíd at
the time of her marriage,and shewas not fluent in Castilian. Her youth
and her languagedifficulties lcd her to seek the companyof other
German-speakingindividuals at the Spanishcourt; in addition to Haller,
theseincludedPhilip Il1’s aunt (and grandmother),EmpressMaria (who
had beenEmpressof the I-Ioly RomanEmpirefrom 1564to 1576,but who
in 1581 retiredto (te conventof the DescalzasRealesin Madrid) and the
empress’sdaughter,Margarita de la Cruz (a nun at the sameconvent).
Margaritaalsosoughtthe companyof her Austrianlady-in-waiting, María
Sidonia,as well as that of the AustrianHabsburgambassadorin Madrid,
Hans Khevenhúller.With theseindividuals, Margarita often spoke in
German,somethingwhich was disturbingto the Duke of Lerma because
he andhis associatescould not understandthe language,aud tlius could
not monitortheseconversations.Margarita’s troubles at the Spanishcourt
eventuallylcd her to telí HansKhevenhúllerthat shewould “much rather
be a nun in aconvent¡u Goricia(Styria) thauQueenof Spain”.’3 Despite
her many frustrationswith the Spanishcourt, Margarita becamea strong
political playerthereanddid not shunherroyal duties.

Haller, for his pan,hadnot wantedto go as confessorto Margaritade
Austria. Prior to his appointmentas Margarita’s confessor,RichardHaller
servedasrector of (te Jesuituniversity at Graz.14 Haller, who hadbeen
born in Nuremberg,representedBavarianinterestsat the court in Graz and

See Archivo SegretoVaticano.Fondo Borghese,Ser. II, o. 272, Nunziaturadi Spagna[605-16(16,
fols. 58r-SSv; 67r-67v. ¡ have nol seenuhe original Ictíer hut haceeoosttlte,[ the transeribedcopx u
BernardoJoséGarcíaGarcía. “El Duquc deLermay [aPas Hispánica,”tuopubísite,[ tesinade licenciatura
(Madrid, [991), Pp. [63-64.

RA. 5t.r<tdiing, Philip IV a,,d tite <Jovernn,eo¡ ofSpain. /621- /665 (New York, [988), p. 6.

¡ BN. Madrid, Ms. 2751, “Historia deJoan Kevenhul[er de Aichelberg,” p. [40-1141. For the
Geonanversionsee, lil-ISTA. Spanien,DiplomatiseheKorrespondenz(hereafter513K), Karton [3. Dic
GeheimeKorrespondenzdes KaiserliehenBotschafiersam Konig[iche Spanischen[of in Madrid. 1-laos
Khevenhiifler,Gral von FrankenburganKaiserkudoll 11. vol. VI, 1606, lol. 331r.

~ RichardHaller was boro o Nurembergin [550. He etuteredhis tov~ciatein [569. He wasrectoral
the Jcsuituniversity in lnnsbrttckandat lngolstadt(Bayana)beforebecomingredorat Graz. ¡-Iallcr died o
Madrid iii lanuary16ti, SeeCarlosSomniervogel.BIh(¡ot ñique de la Co,opogtic dc Jestus vol. IX (Paris,
[900),PP.49-50.
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was in favor of closer cooperationbetweenthe Styrian branchof the
AustrianI-Iabsburgsin Graz and the Wittlesbachsin Bayana.Ferdinand’s
mother,ArchduchessMaria of Bayana,was from the Wittelsbachfamily.
Thus, the court in Graz hada strong contingentof individualswho were
favorablydisposedtowardBayana.Haller wasamongthoseindividualsin
Graz who favored a marriage betweenthe Styrian branchof the
l-tabsburgsand the Wittelsbachs.15For this reason,he clashedwith
Archduke Ferdinand’sJesuit confessor,Bartholomew Viller, who
originally discouragedthe Styrian-Bavarianmarriagetie.16

BartholomewViller hadgrandiose,internationalplans for the Styrian
Habsburgs.Viller was instrumental in having Archduke Leopoid,
Ferdinand’syounger brother,chosenas bishop of Passau,a move which
angeredthe Wittelsbachs.Moreover,Viller was also a key negotiatorfor
the marriageof Margarita de Austria to Philip 111 becausehe thoughtthat
the marriagecould greatly enhancethe political future of (te Stynian une.
Once this marriagewas suceessfullynegotiated,Viller suggestedRichard
Haller as Margarita’sconfessor.~Haller correctly interpretedthis action
as an attempt by Viller to removehis rival from the political arenain
Graz. ForHaller, this appointmentsignaledanexile from familiar territory
andan inability to defendBavanianinterestsat the Habsburgcourt in Graz
or to interfere in political developmentsin CentralEurope.Nevertheless,
he quickly t’ound in Margarita a close ally through whom he could
exercísean ímportant spiritual andpolitical role. In Spain he not only
advisedand counseledthe queenbut he alsoremainedabreastof political
developmcntsandnegotiatedissuesfor the Austrianarchdukesandfor the
Wittelsbachs.His position as confessorthus accordedhim a degreeof
powerand leveragewhich he could employ in the internationalarena.The
relationshipbetweenMargarita de Austria andRichardHaller was oneof
mutual dependence,much like that betweenniany early modern women
andIheir confessors.18

The associationbetweenMargaritade Austria and RichardHallen
clearly shows the extentto which spiritual guidancecould readily be

<5 lite Iiavariao laetion i n Gra~. wanted Ferdinandto marry his Bavarian cousin.Maria Anna of
Witle[sbach. Allhough Bartho[omew \‘iller originally disenuragedthis marriage,he eventuallyagreedto
the plan hecauseArehdukeFerdinandaud ArehduchessMaria desiredthe union. viller even helped
negotialethe marriageof Ferdinaudto Maria Anua. SeeJohannAndrilsch, “Landesffirst[ che Beraterata
Grazer1-lot ([564-1619),’ u Iooeróxleoeici,. /564-/6/9(Graz., [968), p. [05.

\‘iller was Archduke Ferdinand’sconfessorfroto [597 until 1617. Qn \<il[er’s careersee, Johann
Andrilseh, ‘‘1 ,,¡ndesliirsllichcBerater. ‘‘ Pp. 73-1 [7. Qn Archduke Ferdinand’sconfessorssee,Robert
Lii re ley, S.J., Religion aoci Polúics ¿o lite Age of jite Coontctrefármc¡líon.

<~ Qn ViIler’s role u choosing Haller as Margarilas eonfessor,seeJohannAndrilsch.
‘‘L.andesfíirstlicite Ber,tter, ‘‘ Pp. [05-06.

<< See. [br e~antp[e, Jodi Bilinkoll’. Tite Avila of Saiv¡t Teresa. Religiatís Rejórm in a Síxteenth-
cesaorv City (líhacaand London. 989),Pp. [87-96. 1 have hnrrowedtheten, n,utual dependenee”from
mcli Bi[inkofl p . [93)
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transíatedinto political advice. The nelationshipalso highlights the fluid
line betweenreligion andpolitics at the early modern Spanishcourt.
Confessorsoften actedas negotiatorsfor andrepresentativesof the queen
with the male political world. Malesattemptedto limit femaleaction to
domesticand religious realms. Womenusedtheserealmsto further their
political ends and theneforeconsciouslyworkedthroughconfessorsto
voice their political concerns.Margaritade Austria entrustedRichard
Haller with canryingmessagesto councilorsof stateandwith neporting
eventsat the Spanishcourt to her Austrian Habsburgnelatives.So, fon
example, in 1602 Hallen gaye a petition to Cristóbal de Ipeñarrieta,the
secretaryof the Council of Finance,askingfor 100 ducats for Juan Ox,
oneof the queen’ssenvants(who regulanly took her mail to Central
Europe).19In this case,the moneywas given to Haller, who thenusedit to
buy a chain [cadena]fon Ox as a form of repayment.Thus,Hallennot only
deliveredthe petition, but he then was entrustedwith receivingand using
the money. This incident demonstratesnot only what early modern
histonianshavelong known abouta royal confessor’sduties —that they
regularly transcendedthe neligious sphere but also that queen’s
confessorsoften worked within female court networks and were
instrumentalin taking femaleconcemsto the male hierarchy.2~>Far from
acting independentlyat the Spanishcourt, Haller servedas Margarita de
Austria’s representativeandworked fon Ihe queen;shecertainly did not
work for him.

Posthumousaccountsof Margarita de Austria’s life, howeven,
downplayedthe queen’sindependenceand emphasizedher subordination
to her confessor.According to male obsenvers,Margarita de Austria
demonstratedgreat deferencetoward RichardHallen. Diego de Guzmán,
in bis biographyof the queenS1notedMarganita’scompleteobedienceto
her confessor.

A su c’onfessor estava tan rendida y obediente, que lepodía dezir lo
que sentía con tanta libertad, como si fuera una novicia de una ¡‘cli-
gión. Y en cierta ocasión le divo, Padie dígame VR, <que con este
respeto hablava alguna vez, y en secreto a su confessor) lo que
estoy obligada a hazer en conciencia, que yo lo haré, aunque me
cueste la vida.... También dixo en otra ocasión, que no podía sufrir
confessor; que no dixesse las verdades lisas y claras.22

~ Archivo GeneraldeSimancas(hereafrerAGS), Consejoy Juntasde Hacienda,Leg. 428. CasaReal,
#18, Valladolid, [3 September[602, Haller wanled themoneyto huy a chain(cadena)fur ~x iti arder lo

repay[sim tor hringing [ett.ersfrota ArchdttchessMaria to her daughter,the queen. His requesíwas
approved.

2<> For a detailed study of one confessor’scrucial influence in <he making of political poheysee.
RobenBireley, S.J., Relig’ ion and Pal ¡¡¡rs ¡o rIte Age oftite Counterreforrnatioo.

DiegodeGuzmán,Reyna Católica. Vida y Muerte de Doña Margarita de At,stria (Madrid. 1617).
22/bid, [oIt. [12v-lI 3,
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In the funeral sermonshe deliveredat the queen’sdeath,Jerónimode
Florenciaalsoemphasizedthe queen’ssubmissionto ben confessor?3
Moreover, accordingto Florencia andGuzmán,Margarita de Austria
treatedRichardHallen (and alí pniests) with tremendousdeference,
somethingwhich a queenwas not commandedto do, but wasmandatory
for a religious novice.24In this way, she supposedlyexemplifiedthe
saintly, pure queenwho modeledherselfaher a nun and thus confirmed
andevensurpassedthe establishedsocialnormsfon womenandfor rulers.

It is not surpnisingthat pniestssuchas GuzmánandFlorenciawhowere
wniting commemorativeworks abouta deadqueenshould emphasizeher
religious piety and her devotion to her confessor.After alí, thesemen
wanted to create an ideal picture of the queen which subsequent
generationsof royal womenwouid useas a model fon theirown lives. In
fact, Philip III hopedbis daughterAna would readGuzmán’sbiographyof
her mother and follow her examplei5Yet by empbasizingMargarita’s
deferenceanddevotion to Hallen, GuzmanandFlorenciaimplied that
Haller greatlyinfluencedMargaritain her decisionsandin herassessment
of the Spanisbcourt. Ihis was certainlythe opinion of the Dukeof Lerma
andbis associateswho thoughtthat Haller spokepoorly of them to the
queen. So, for example,a confidanteof Rodrigo Calderón,Lerma’s
closestassociateat tbe Spanishcourt, informedCalderónthat Hallen was
an enemigocapital de V.Md. [Calderón] y que segúndicen algunosno
hazea V.Md. buenosoficios conla reyna” andthat Haller bad goneso far
as to claim that he had in his possessionnumerousdocumentswbich
incriminatedCalderón.26Altbough Haller certainly dislikedthe Duke of
Lerma andCalderón, it seemsunlikely that he was responsiblefon
instilling tbesesentimentsin the queen.Rather,the queenfrom benarriVal
in Madrid disagreedwith the Duke of Lerma’s policies and criticized
thesepolicies openly. She and 1-taller shareda distrustof Lerma andbis
companions.The queencertainly disliked Rodrigo de Calderónand the

23 Florencia delivered two seononsat thequeensdeath, thefirst wasdedicatedto Phi[ip III and the
second lo [he DuReof Lerma,Por the first senaonsee “Sanan que predicóGerónimode Florenciaa
Felipe III en las Honras deMargarita de Austria,” [8 November 1611, BN Madrid, Varios Especiales
(herszal’ler abhreviatedVE) 5493, For ube secondsermonsee ‘SegundoSermonque Predicóeí Padre
Gerónin,o deFlorencia..enlas Honras que hizo a la...ReynaO. Margarita..” [9 December1612. in
Micací Avellán, Orac¡ov¡ Ponebre..., BN Madrid,Rf24245, lo]. A2.

24 Seethe rules [nr a religinus novice in Juande la Cerda, Vida Políl¡ca de frdos los Estados de
Mujere.s (Alcalá de Henares,1599); JuanLuis vives, La Mujer Cristiana, ([523) ed, LorenzoRiber
(Madrid. [949). The biographieswritten aboutnunssuchas Sor Margaritadela Cruz and Sor Marianade
San Joséemphasizetheir obedienceto their eonfessors,SeeJuande la Palma, Vida ¡le la Serenisima
lr¡ján¡a Sor Margarila de la Ct’uz (Seville, ¡653), audLuis Muñoz,Vida de la Venerable 214. Ma,Jana deS.
Joseph (Madrid, [643).

25 Quoted in Gil GonzalezDávila, U/cloe/a de la ¡‘ida e Hechos del/nc/ño Monarca Aníada y Santo
0. Felipe Tercero (Madrid, 1771),p. 191.

26 BN M,tdrid, Ms. [2859, Don DiegodeAldereseto RodrigoCalderón.Madrid, 2 September¡609,
foN. [3—14.
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knownanimosity betweenCalderónand the queenled to speculationthat
Calderónhad poisonedthe queenandmight evenbave bewitcbedher.
Although Calderónwas criminally prosecutedfor thesecharges,he was
not found guilty of them.27This distrustof key figuresatPhilip IU’s court
boundthe queenandher confessorevercloser.

Male obsenverssuch as Rodrigo Calderónmight havepreferredto see
Haller’s influence behind tbe young queen’sactions becauseit
correspondedto early modernmale perceptionsthat women were
incapableof rationalthoughtanddeterminedaction, andthat women were
easily influenced and swayed.Yet the queenformed ber own decísons
andemployedHallen as the spokesmanof her demandsto the male
political world. Certaiíily the Venetianambassadors,who were usually
quite adeptat uncoveringtbe inner workings of the Spanishcourt,
recognizedMargarita’s interestin political mattersandher desireto havea
say in the makingof decisions.The Venetianambassador,OttavianoBon,
reportedin 1602 that Queen Margarita de Austria “is capableof great
things, so mueh so that shewould govern it sheeould in a manner
different from that of the king rflhilip I1I1.~’28 In fact, Bon implied that the
qucen’spolitical intuition was sounderthan hen husband’s.Whetherone
agreeswith Bon tbat the queen’spolitical instinctswere superior(o those
of her husband,it is clearthat shewas in her own right a majorpolitical
force at the court.

Margarita de Austria andRichardHaller functionedas representatives
of the AustnianHabsburgsin Spain.llaller brougbtrequeststo the Council
of State fnom the Austrian Habsburgsfor assistancein their struggle
againstthe Turks.The Austrian Habsburgsmadetheserequestsdirectly to
Haller, but they also wrote Margarita de Austria who undoubtedlyused
Haller to bning thesemattersto the attentionof Philip l11’s ministers.
Emperor Rudolf also requestedthe queen’sassistancein settling the
mattersof Finale and Piombino (two imperial fiefs in ltaly over which
both (te SpanishandAustrians L-labsburgsclaimed control.)29In a Icuer
of 1604, Rudolf II wrote to Margaritade Austria asking her “con sus
buenosofflcios con el Rey ayude,paraque en lo del Final y Piorubin Su
Magestadse resuelva,comola razóny equidadlo pide. Y no dessearaotra
cosamas,sino queen estoy en todo lo demásV. Magd. oyemuy despacio

Angel Ossorio,Las Han,brc’s <le Toga en el Proceso de 0. Rodrigo (‘alderán (Madrid. [918).
~ Relazionedi GítavianoBon, 21 December[602, o Barozzi aud Bcrehet,Reiaziaoi </eqli Sycth

Europe¡, p. 247.
—~ Qn Fina[e <ce Friedrich Ede1 mayer, Morón¡han 1/ , Piui/ipp /1 uod Re¡citsi¡alien. Dic

Auseioandosetzongeo orn das Reichslei¡en Fina/e ¡¡u Ligtn’¡eo (Stultgart, 1988) aud JoséLuis Canode
Gardoqui,La Incorparacirht del Marquesado riel Flitale (/002) (Valladolid, [955). Qn t he Spanish-
Aussriaset.,nflicsnve~ irnp¡zrialficís in hAy duringPhilip Ilís reigaseeMagdalena5. Sánchez,“Dynasly,
State,aocI Dip[omacy in the Spainof Philip III.” ctnpub[ished Ph.D. Ihesis (Baltintore.MD, [988),Pp. [71-
211.
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a mi Embaxadorel Kevenhilery le diessecredito como soliael Rey que
seaen gloria...”30 Rudolf obviouslybelievedthat Margaritacould useher
good graceswith Philip HIto pressurehim to settlethe questionof Finale
and Piombinoin a mannerfavorableto theAustrianHabsburgs.

Richard Haller correspondedregularíy with the queen’smother,
ArchduchessMaria, andwith (te queen’sbrothe~Archduke Ferdinand,
andreportedto them eventsat the Spanishcourt, particularly thosewhich
touchedthe queen.They in turn requestedhis assistancein bringing
mattersto the altentionof Philip III. For example,in 1604,Archduchess
Maria wrote to Philip III that the queenand Haller would inform him of
Rudolf II’s resolution in severaldiplomatic negotiations.31In this way
Hallen actedas a direet representativeof the AustrianHabsburgsand as a
type of diplomat. Haller also correspondedwith the Duke of Bayana
aboutmattersat the Spanishcourtwhich touchedupon the duke’s interest
(such as Spanishsupport for the Catholic League).32The confessor’s
political role createdhostility betweenhimself andPhilip Ill’s royal
favorite, the Dukeof Lerma. Marganita’scloseassociationwith Haller and
their conversationsin Germancombined tu createmuch animosity
betweenLerma and4w queen,andbetweenLermaandHaller.

Although Hallen‘s position was strictly definedas a spiritual office, as
the queen’sconfessorhe had daily andprivate accessto Margaritade
Austria, accesswhich allowedhim to discusspolitical matterswith the
queenand to wonk with her to furiher the interestsof the Austrian
l-tabsburgs.The confessorwas responsiblefor sayingdaily masswithin
the queen’schamberandfor listeningto herconfession.33He met with her
daily, and hadunlimited accessto ben. In this way, bis office paralleled
that of the king’s confessor,wbo alsohad frequent accessto Philip III.
¡‘he king’s confessor,however,usuallyoccupiedapositionon the Council
of State and thus he hada well-definedpolitical role. Haller’s political
role was less well-defined; he was noÉ asked to serveon the Council of
Stateor on any other statecouncils. Yet the Spanishcount environment,
which allowedroyal confessorsa political voice, undoubtedlyalsomadeit
acceptablefor 1-taller to expresshis opinionon political matters.

Pie queen’sregardfor herconfessoris evidentin her wifl, as well.34 In
the will, the queenreferredto ¡-taller as “mi muy fiel confesor...como

BN. Madrid. Ms. 915. Rudo[f [110MargaritadcAustria,Praga,2 January[604, IbIs. 54r-v,
~ BN, Madrid. Ms, 915, ArchduchessMaria tu Philip III, Graz,21 March [604, [nl, 87r-v.
32 See P. Arthur M, deCarmiguanode Brenta.OF.M., Mission Oiplarna¡ique de Laurení de Bri sudes

aa/sil> de Piñ/ippe 1/1 en Patear de /a Ligae caíholiqae Aliemande (Padua, [964), PP. 42-43. p. 63 nota
[32, aud p. 66.

~ RAH, Madrid. Ms. 9/476.“MemoriasdelCardenalDiegodeGuzmán,”21 May 1609. Ful, 39.
~ For Ihe queen’stesíamentsee, RAH, Ms. M-63. fols, 309v-320r. In leavingmnneylo her closest

friertds audservants,MargaritadeAustriamentionedRichardHalla first. buí notedthat herconfessordid
uní wish her lo give[sim«ny monetarygifí. Seefol. 316v.
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quien no pretendeni a pretendidojamásnadani quiso que le mandase
algoni parasíni parasusdeudos.”3~’Neventheless,thequeenaskedPhilip
III to compensateRichardHallen liberally and in a mannerbefitting a
“faithfui confessor.”Margarita de Austria furihermoreentrustedRichard
Haller with ensuringthat the termsof her testamentwere carriedout, In
this way, the queenraisedher Jesuitconfessorto the level of her husband
andof the Duke of Lerma, the otherexecutorsof her will. Margarita de
Austria left a good shareof her wealth to a Jesuit school in Salamanca.
Ibis in itself was proof of her continueddevotionto Richard HaLler aud
her respectfor te Jesuits.Sheknewthat her heirswould questionthis gift
to the Jesuits(Philip 111 would delayUds foundationfor severalyearsafter
Margarita’s death),and perhapsanticipatingher husband’sreaction,the
queenchoseRichardHaller to defendher dying wishes.

As a iesuit priest, Richard 1-laller had occasionto interael frequently
with fellow Jesuitsat the Spanishcourt and at the Jesuit residencein
Madrid. In particular,1-Taller seemsto haveworked in cooperationwith
Diego de Guzmán,Philip L1I’s royal almoner anda closeassociateof
Margarita de Austria. As royal almoner,Diego de Guzmánspokewith
Philip 111 regulanlyafter lunch at which time the king would decideon
dispensingalms to the poor, the needy,and the deserving36Guzmánwas
also regularly presentat the audienceswhich Philip III gaye aherlis
midday meal.37He alsoattendedmeetingsof the Councilof State.38

Diegode Guzmánexercisedan importantsay in the court of Philip III
and had contactwith the queenlong before he was appointedroyal
almonerin December1608.Prior to bis appointmentas almoner,Guzmán
was the chaplain of the DescalzasRealeswhere he receivedhis
appointmentin 1602 through EmpressMania’s intercessionwith Philip
uit1 As chaplainof the Descalzas,Diego de Guzmánhaddaily contact
with EmpressMaria and the nuns of the monastery.including the
Empress’sdaughter,Sor Margarita de la Cruz. He also was in chargeof
the many religious celebrationsin the monastery,most of which were
attendedby the king andqueen.Moreover,as chaplainhe was responsible
for sayingthedaily massesat the monastery,masseswhich Phulip 111 and

~ RAH. Ms, M-63, fol.
~ Seo, ¡br example,RAH, 9/476, fol. [7(12 May [609); fol. 72(28July [609); ,rnd 9/477, lb[..34 (13

Augusí 1610); fol. 85(24May 1611),
~ Seo, [nr example,RAil, 9/476, [‘nl,94,
~ Althoughit is unclearwhethcrPhilip III ever actua[ly gaye Diego dc Guzmánthetitle of enuneilor

nl’ state,Gazmánnotesir bis enemoirsthai be atiendedtreetingaof ibe Council of Siam.SeoRAil. 9/476.
30 May 609, fol, 41. FelicianoBarrios[istsDiegodeGuzunánun tbe itt of Phi[ip [lis councilorsof siate
but (loes ooc give a dateof appoir¡tmenc.See FelicianoBarrios, El Canse/ode Estada cíe la Monarquía
Española, p. 349. Guzmáncontinuedto serveasroyal almonerunderPhilip lv.

~“ BritishLibrary, Additionat Manuscripts28,424,Borja to Lerma, 12 December160 [fol, 236, PttiIip
III may have originally suggestedDiego de Guzmán lo the Empress,but shechose [smiamooga lisí of
possib[e candidatosfor chaplainof the monastory.
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Margaritade Austria attendedregularly. Altbough he was appointedroyal
almonerin 1608, Diego de Guzmáncontinuedto serveas royal chaplain
of the Descalzasuntil April 1609.40Guzmánundoubtedlyservedas a
conduit for information and requestsfrom the Descalzasto the royal
palace,andvice versa.1-lis closeassociationwitb the monasteryevenafter
1609 —he continuedto celebratemassesthere and to plan religious
festivities ensuredthatthe needsof the cloisterednunsof the Descalzas
receivedroyal attention.Guzmánwas alsoclosely associatedwith the
queenand was often presentat audienceswhich shegavet’ 1-le worked
with her in the reformationof the royal monasteryof Santa Isabel42,and
in the foundationof the royal monasteryof the Encamación.43Guzmán
also ovensawthe queen’scharitabledeedsand was no doubt privy to the
secretexpensesof Margaritade Austria.44 In his memoirs,Diego de
Guzmán recordedvisiting Margaritade Austria in her private chapel
(oratorio) almost every morning. Guzmanoften met witb the queen’s
confessor,Richard1-laller, in the JesuitResidencein Madrid. Guzmán
notedeatingwith and speakingto RichardHaller at the Jesuithouse.For
example,after being appointedtutor to the InfantaAna, an office which
Diego de Guzmán did noÉ desire, Guzmánwent to the Jesuitresidence
whene he discussedthe mattenwith RichardHaller.45 Thus, Diego de
Guzmánwas a crucial link in the queen’snetwork of influence at the
Spanishcourt.

Margarita de Austria andRichardHallen also had contactwith other
prominentJesuit priests, including the court preacher,Jerónimode
Florencia, a preacherwho won much favor with the queenandwho was
critical of the Dukeof Lerma’s influenceat thecourtt Florenciawasone

~<‘ In bis memoírs Guzmánwriíos <[sal he finishod alí his dutios al [heDescalzasmonasroryon 26 April
[609. RAH, 9/476.fol. 33.

~ RAH, 9/476, fol. 67.
42 JoséLuis SáenzRuiz-Olalde,O.A.R,, Las Agustinas Recoletas de Santa Isabel Lii Real de Madrid

(Madrid. [990). Pp. 46-95. For the original documenisfrom <he queenand Diego deGuzmánconceniing
the reformationof SantaIsabel seo, Archivo HistóricoNacional,Madrid, Clero,L. 7677 “Relación quela
ReynaNuestraSeñoramandoenhiara Don FranciscocJeCastraSjúlias withoul folio numbers.

~ Qn <he royal twonasteryof [he Encarnaciónsee, María Leticia SánchezHernández,El Monasterio
de la tCnva,naci¿n de Madrid. Un Mac/cío de Vida Religiosa en el Sigla XVII (EdicionesEseurialonses,
[986).

~ In his biographyof [he queen,Guzmán<alks aboutbeingprivy <o [sersecretcharitabloacís and
donations.SeeDiego deGuzmán,Vida y Muerte de Doña Margarita de Austria, fol, 142r-142v.

~ RAH, 9/476,fol. [24, [9 January1610, Although Guzmándoesnol record speeificallythat he
spokelo llaller abouthis appointment,<he juxíapositionof his accountof his appointmentwií.h thaI of his
meelingwith Hallerclearly implies [sal <he twn occunenceswerorelated,Diego do Guzmánseemsto hayo
believed that <he Duke of Lerma hacl [sim appoinledtutor <o [he Infanta Ana so aslo limil Ihe royal
almoner’sabi[ity tobeal royal audienees,

46 Qn Florencia’spolitical influence,particular[y in Ihe [ast yearof Philip Ilis reign seo, Matías de
Novoa, “Memoriasde Matías deNovoa,” in Colección de Documentos Inéditos para la Historia de
España. vol. LXI, (Madrid, 1611),Pp. 121, [32; BN, Madrid, Ms. [7,858,“Relacionesde 1618 a 1621,”
fol. 290; EN, Madrid, Ms. 2352, “Sucesosdel año 1621” fol. 9r,
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of Margarita de Austria’s favorite preachers;Diego de Guzmánregularly
notedthat Florenciaoftengayesermonsat the queen’smassesM7Florencia
alsodeliveredthe funeral sermonsat the queen’sdeath.Thesesermons
showthathe wascritical of the Dukeof Lermaand that Florenciasaw the
queenas a chief proponentof an anti-Lerínacourt policy.48 In the first
sermonhe deliveredat N4argarita’sdeath,Florenciahad the queendeliver
political advicefrom the grave:sheurged Philip 111 to governin a manner
which would bring him eternalsalvationand tú look after the welfareof
the monarchywhich was like a secondwife to a king.49 Florenciaalso had
Margarita urgeprivados to usetheir greatpower to help the powerless.5<>
Florencia(tus made(te queenrepresentgoodgovernmentandlove of the
republic. By having Margarita de Austria provide adviceto [he king and
his councilors, Florenciaimplied that the queendisapprovedof the
politics at thc Spanishcourt, and that the queenhad sound political
judgement.The dcathof the queenandthe occasionof a eulogyprovided
an opportunity for the preacherhimself tú criticize court polities, albeit
through tlie safe mouth of the deccasedqueen.Florencia’s sernions
ultimately liad astrongimpacton Philip III. In 1618,the king clainíedthat
one of Florencia’s sermonshad inspiredhim tú dismiss the Dul=eof
Lerína.51

Lerma’s agendafor foreign po!icy sharply differed from that of
Margarita de Austria andRichardHaller. ThroughoutPhilip fll’s reign,
the Duke of Lermasoughtto concentrateSpanishattentionon the Iberian
peninsula.Facedwith increasingeconomiedifficulties, the Spanish
govemmentdebatedwherebestto employ its liínited financial resources.
Lerma arguedthat theseresourcesshould best be employed in securing
the Iberian territories,andshould be focusedon the Mediterranean.52For
this reason,he discouragedgiving unliínited support tú the Austrian
Habsburgsin CentralEurope,and he encouragedPhilip 111 tú sign a truce
with the Dutch provincesin l6O9.~~ Lerma also supporteda rapproach-

~ Seofor exampleGuzmán’snt<morousrelÁronces o F[c,renei<t’s serrnons o RAIl, 9/477.
~< See“Sermon que predicóGerónimode Florenciaa Felipe III en las Honrasdc Margarita de

Austria,” [8 Navember1611. and ‘SegutucloSermonque Predicóel PadreGerónimocíe F[orencia...en las
Honrasquehizo att..,RoynaD. Margarita 9 December1612. u Micael Avellan, Oraci<sn lancine.

~ Florencia,“Sermón quePredicóa Felipe II en lasHonrasde Margarila deAustria,” fol. [7—17v.
~><Ibid. fol, [8.
~> BN. Madrid. Ms, 2348. “Sucesosdesdeel año 1611 hasta1617.” fol, 4(12v.
52 Jonathao1. Israel,Tñe Do¿ch Repoblé; a,td 1/se Hisl?an¡c World /606/66/ (New York, [982>,Pp.

[2-14; BernardoJoséGarcíaGarci,t. ‘El Duqtte de Leonay la Pax Hispáoic<t. pp. 78-166;John II.
Ellinír, “Foreigo Policy andDomestieCrisis: Sp<tin. 1598-1659,’’ o Spa¡n and Os World /500-/ 700 (New
Havenan,l tondon, 989). p. [16-18; PeterBrightwe[l. ‘Tho SpanishOrigins of he Thicly Yoars’ W<tr,”
Europeat, Stoc/i es Pesien’, vol. 9 (1979). pp.423-24.

> This trucewas o kecping w ith ¡ erma’s aud Philip [[‘5 attetnpt t.o pursuepacifistie pol cies, a
clesire tnoti vated at least lo parí hy the econon,le problentsof <he 5pani sh kingdoms jod Ihe tremendo[ta
financial dram, whieh lIso war in Flandersrepresentodfor [he Spanish monarchy.Qn <he <ruco see,
Jonathatt1. Israel. Tite Dutcit Republic and/ tIte Hi.spanu Wo¡ld, pp. [—95;Geoffrey Parker,lIte í)utci,
Resol> (New York, 1981), p[. 239-40;263-64.
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ment with Franceand was instrumental in negotiatingthe marriageof
Philip 1II’s daughterAna tú Louis XIII of France,andof PrincePhilip (the
future Philip IV) tú Isabelde Bourbon.54The Austrian 1-labsburgsdid not
welcomcLenna’speacefuloverturestoward Francebecausetheythought
these maneuverswere at the expenseof Spanish-Austrianrelations.
Cúnsequently,throughoutthe reign of Pbilip 111, thoseindividuals(suchas
Margarita de Austria and Richard Haller) at (te Spanishcúurt who
supportedAustrian Habsburginterestswere constantlyat odds with the
Dukc of Lermaandbis policies.

Although Lerma attemptedtú prevent(te queenfroni chailenginghis
authority at the Spanishcourt, Margaritaremainedatthe centerof a court
t’action which championedthe interestsof the Austrian Habsburgsand
which therefore opposeddic policies of (te Duke of Lerma. Pus
“Austrian Party” wanted the Spanishmonarchytú concentrateits
resourceson Central Europeand on assístíngthe Austrian Habsburgsin
their struggleagainst the Turks, againstthe German Protestants,and
againstthe Dutch “rcbels.”55 lndividuals such as Margarita de Austria,
Sor Margarita de la Cruz, andRichardHaBerempliasized[he faínilial [¡es
betweenthe Éwo I-labsburgbranchesand the need tú work túgethcr tú
protect the common“Houseof Austria.” For them,the Spanishkingdoms
andthoseof thc AustrianHabsburgswere part of a commonpatrimony,a
common inheritancewhich it was essentialtú maintain.Therefore, thcy
saw this as the chief concern of the Spanishmonarchy,one that
supersededanyattempt tú proteetanddefendthe Spanishkingdoms.Their
concernsweremotivatedby familial anddynasticinterestsandnot by any
thorough understandingof the financial situationin the Iberian peninsula.
Thus, (te policies which ¡bey advocatedclasheddirectly with (te pLus of
(te Dukeof Lerma.

Nevertheless,this Austrian faction was oftensuccessfulin winning the
attentionof Philip III and causinghim tú concentrateon CentralEurope.
Through the pressureof Margarita de Austria andRichardHaller (until
Iheir dentlis, respectivelyin 1611 and 1612), and through the work of
Margaritade la Cruz andcouncilúrsof statesuchas the Duke of Infantado
and Baltasarde Zúñiga (aher he retumedfrom Central Europein 1617),
Philip III ultimately pursueda foreign policy which was favorable tú the
Austrian Habsburgs.This was particularly evident in 1618 when the
Spanishmonarchydecidedtú assistArchdukeFerdinandand the Austrian

‘< Qn daeseroarriagesseoPedroMatttuano,é.asatoiceúsi t/e ¡¿cpu/la e I’raoc/a. y 1’/agc’ dc/ I)uq¡¿e dc
Lerma Llevando la Rcyna (i?It,’issma. Daría Asso de Ausí¡¡a al Pasa tic leob¡a y Trayendo la Pr¡ncesa dc
Asturias Nto¡ Sta (Maclricl, [618); 1-. Tommy Porrons, les Mariages Espagoals saus le Regíte de Henr¡ IV
el lo Regente <le Marie tic Medicis (Paris. 1 869): FranciseoSilvela, Mtta¡ntonias tic España y Fta,¡cit¡ en
1615 (Madrid, [901).

~ Qn Ihe Austrian (nr Gorman) Faction seo EdouardRolí. “Phi[ipp [¡1 e< le Duc de Leone([598-
[621).” o Revue ciHistoire /)iplaasadqoe, 1 (P<tris. [88?), tap. 26-2?;john II, Elliott, ‘Foreign Polieyand
DomeslieCrisis:Spain, 1598-1659.”p. II?.
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J-Iabsburgsin suppressingthe BohemianRevolt. Ihis decisionin turn
involved Spain in the Thirty Years’ War, a war which was disastrousfor
the financialandpolitical future of the Spanishmonarchy.56

From ah accounts,Margarita de Austria demonstratedgreat strength
and determination in pressuringPhilip III in matterswhich were
particularly dear tú her. Sheregularly askedPhilip III for financial
assístancefor her brother, Archduke Ferdinand.In October 1600, the
queenconvmcedPhilip III tú give Eerdinanda monthly stipendof 5000
ducats.57Ferdinandvalued his sister’s influence and even after
Margarita’sdeath in 1612, Ferdinanócontinuedto use her memory to
negotiatemattersat the court. In his instructionstú an ambassadorhe was
sendingtú the Spanishcourt in 1613, Ferdinandlisted individuals at the
Spanishcourt Qn whom the ambassadorcouldcountbecausetheyhadhad
greataffection for Margarita de Austria.58Philip lII’s affectionandregard
for his wife alsocausedhim tú delaypursuinghis claimsto the Bohemian
and 1-lungarianthronesuntil after Margarita’sdeath.Theseclaimsbrought
him into direct competition andconflict with Archduke Ferdinand,
Margarita’sbrother.Although the issuehadbeenbroughtup by Guillén de
SanClemente,the Spanishambassadorin Central Europe,as early as
1603, andagainby bis successor,Baltasarde Zúñiga in 1611, it did not
receiveseriousattentionuntil l612.~’~ Margarita’s influencewith Philip III
was personaland familial; they had an affectionate,closerelationship.
Pie king listened tú her requestsandtú her comments,as for examplein
1610 when, following her adviceandthat of bis aunt, Sor Margaritade la
Cruz, the king agreedtú considerRudolf II’s requesttú have princes
treated(te sameasSpanishgrandeesatthe court6<>

Margarita de Austria alsoencouragedPhilip Il1’s tendenciestoward
piety and religious devotion. During her lifelime, the queenmaintained

56 Qn <he Spanishdecision<o entertheThirty Years’ War see.PeíaBrighíwe[. “The SpaoishOrigins
nf <he Thirty Years’ W-ar,” Pp. 409-31; Brightwoll. “Spain, Bohemiaaud Europe, 161921,” Lot-apean
5/odies Review, vol. [2(1982), Pp. 371-99;Brightwc[l, “Spainand Bohemia: ‘¡le Decision<o intervene,
[619.” Poroitean 5/adir> ReOca,, vol. [2(1982). Pp. 1 l?-41.

~ H1-ISTA, SDK, Kartc,n [3. Khevenhtillerto Rudo[f II. letterfrom II Qeloher[600,fol. 57r-5?v.
~ HHSTA. FamilienAkten. #[06. fol. 86: “.,eon quien podreys...tra<arcon buena confianzapues

cienoestoyque no dexarande mostrarmuchaafficion a estacasapor [a qtte devende tenera [a memoria
cíe [a Reynami hermana”

~<>Otí [heBohemianand [-lungartanussueseo, Otto G[iss, Ocr Onale Vero-ag, (FrankfurtfMain,[934);
Peler lirightwell. “Spain. Bohemiaand Europe [619162k” pp. 374-76;Magdalena5. Sánchez,
“Dynasty, State,and Diplumacy,”ep. 7. For SanClementesrecommendationseo AGS, EstadoAlemania.
Leg. 70?. fol, 235,31 January[603. For zúñigaadviceseo AGS, EstadoAlemania, Log. 709, fol. [52,
Pragssc.l0February 161<.

65< HHSTA, SpanienHofkorrespondenz,Kat’ton 2, #7. [elter from Margaritacíe laCruz <o Rudolf II, [8
December1610, fol. [55: “Pocosdias a queserivia VMd diciondolecomo el Rey dios le guardo por
averselosuplicado[a Reynay yo hiciessomd alos principosdehonrrarlos ontratarloscomoa[os grandes
de <tea eslaresuello de hacerlossMo se a testaradoen algunosinconvenientes Rudolf II wanted Ihis
privilege [nr his ambassaclor,<he Princeof Castiglione.
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closerelationshipswith severalreligious individuals.While in Valladolid,
she developeda close friendship with Sor Marianade San José,an
Augustiniannun who was the prioressof aconventin Palencia.When the
court returnedtú Madrid, Margaritafound a way tú bring Marianade San
Josétú Madrid: namelyby having her first appointedpriúressof the
reformedconventof SantaIsabel,andsubsequentlydesignatedprioressof
the royal conventof theEncarnación.After Margarita’sdeath,Marianade
SanJoséremainedin closecontactwith Philip III andwith the Spanish
court. Sheút’ten remindedPhilip Hl of the deadqueen’swishesand
undúubtedlyencouragedhim tú assistMargarita’s relatives in Central
Europe.According tú Matíasde Novoa,Marianade SanJoséwas a sharp
critie of the Duke of Lerma’sinfluence and was instrumentalin Lerma’s
fall.61

The queenalso maintainedgood relationswith Philip 1II’s first two
royal confessors,FrayGasparde CórdobaandDiego de Maldonado,both
of whom joined her in her criticism of Lerma’s policies.Through her
connectionstú theseconfessors,the queenwasalsoable tú reachPhilip III
and lo influencehis decisions.Papalnunciosfound a readyassociatein
Margarita de Austria as well. Throughouther time at the Spanishcourt,
the queenmet regularly with the papal nuncioandencouragedher
husbandtú pursue thosepolicies which were beneficial for the future of
Cbristianity. In alí theseways, Margarita de Austria benet’itedfrom the
fact that Philip III was apious individual wbo spentmuch of his day in
churchesand convents.Pie queenoften accompaniedhim tú these
churchesandconvents,and thus theseoccasionsprovided opportunities
for Margarita tú speakwith Philip 111 and tú influencebis decisions.By
couchingher advice in the languageof piety andby stressingthe needtú

defendChristianity, Margarita de Austria could be certainof gaining her
husband’sear. Philip 111 continued tú pay visits tú cúnventsafter
Margarita’sdeathandhe continued tú listen tú Éhe adviceof religious
individualssuchas cúurtpreachersandpriests(Jerónimode Florenciaand
Juan de Santamaría),nuns (Mariana de SanJoséand Sor Margaritade la
Cruz), andhis confessor,Luis de Aliaga. Theseindividuals were, on the
wbole, opponentsof dic Duke of Lerma, and thus by listening to their
advice,Philip III eventuallyaskedLerma tú leave the cúurt. In this way,
Margarita de Austria’s influenceat the Spanishcourt was felt long after
her deathin 1611.This wascertainlythe opinionof MatíasdeNúvoawho
heidthe queenresponsiblefor the king’s trust of’ religious individuals:

Finalmente la decían que el Rey, como liberal y generoso, les hacía
[a Rodrigo CaUcióny a otros] demasiadasmeíredes,y que ya
lEelipe III y Margarita] teníanmuchos hijos y era menester mode-
rarías ¡las mercedes] y reservar algunas para ellos; que no se les

St Matíasde Novoa,“Memorias deMatíasdeNovoa,”vol. LXI, PP. IGL-O?,
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diese tanta mano en el Gobierno, que era ceder de la liberalidad
Real y pasar de señor a siervo. La Reina, como era de bonísimas
entrañas y docilísima de condición, admitía la plática poí’que la
decían que la aconsejaba;; con celo verdaderamente religioso, y
que aquello lo dec:ía el Espíritu Santo, con lo cual. hablava al Rey
en lo que lii persuadían los religiosos, x’ como verdaderamente le
amaba sobre todas las cosas, apíetaba también la dificultad en
rer que la <‘o/untad del Rey no se diveruiese en oticí que la suya.

Although Margaritaceríainly encouragedher husband’spiety, and
althoughshecontinuedtú influencePhilip decisionsevenafter her death,
it should be noted that the king’s relianceQn religiúus individuals was in
keepingwith his own piúus nature which had beenfosteredby his
educationandPhilip lI’s upbringing.

Margarita de Austria was also instrumental in severalprojects
connectedtú religiouslife in the Spanishkingdoms.By mosíaceounts,the
queenstrongly favoredthe expulsion of the Moriscosfrom Spain. Philip
IIl’s resolution tú do so in 1609 signaleda victory for the queen.
Margarita liad promised tú found a convent in Madrid as an act of
thanksgivingfor the expulsionof the Moriscos.Thus, shesuccessfully
pressuredPhilip III tú allow her tú found the royal conventof the
Encarnaciónin Madrid, a conventshefoundedshortly befúre her death.63
Actual construction,however,was not begununtil after her death.1-Ter
will stipulatedthat the conventbe adjacenttú and connectedby an
undergroundpassagewith the royal palace.Philip III carriedout his wife’s
wish andthe building was inauguratedin 1618. The queenalso played a
crucial role in the renox’ationof the conventof SantaIsabel.64Shemoved
the nunsfrom their oíd conventtú a new one,andput them under the
control of the royal almoner,Diego de Guzmán,a reform which several
nunsdisliked. The queenwas also in frequentcontactwith nuns tn
cúnventsboth in Madrid and in Valladolid; shemadeit a practice tú visit
conveníslo pray andea with nunson an almosí daily basis.Finally, as
mentionedaboye. the queenmaintainedclúsecúnnectionstú the papal
nuncioswho saw her as a crucial link lo Philip 111 and ihe Spanishconrí.
Margaritahada tremendousinfluenceoverthis densenetworkof religious
foundatiúnsand individuáis.Aithough men regardedpiety andreligion as
acceptable,i.e. non-political, realms for women, it is clear that Margarita
(and other early modernroyal women) usedprecisely íheserealms tú

exercisea strongpolitical voiceboth in internationaland domesticpolicy.

62 Mattasde Novoa,“Memorias de MatíasdeNovoa,”vol. LXI. p. [04,
~> Qn <he rutes[nr [hefouudatioouncíformationo!’ <he coovertt,seo EN, Madrid, Ms. 6955, “Escritura

deObligacionqueOtorgaron[<uPrioray Monjas del ConvenIodela EncamacióndeMadrid”
~‘ Qn he renovalionof SaolaIsabel seo.JoséLuis SáenzRuiz Qíalde, QAR., Las Agusslinas

Roca/cías, Pp. 37-118.
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Pie relationshipbetweenMargarita de Austria and her confessor
illustrates the way in which early modernroyal women exercised
influence at a court. Royal women, becauseof their lineageand
upbringing, were púlitical creatures.Their marriageswere politically
motivatedand they servedin foreign countriesas unofficiat diplomatie
representativesfor their relatives. Royal women, regardlessof 4w moral
tracts preparedfor them by theúlogiansandconfessors,did not accept
subúrdinationtú males,especiallywhen their lives and training had
preparedthem tú fulfilí necessarypolitical functions.This wasparticularly
true ol Habsburgwomenwho often servedas regentsor governessesof
l-iabsburg territories65Habsburgwúmen worked throngh their own
familial networksat a court in order tú exercisea púlitical voice. Crucial
tú thesenetworkswereconfessúrs,nuns.preachers,ladies-in-waiting,and
serVants.Becausethe acceptedrealms for early modern royal women
were family and religious piety, women sucb as Margaritade Austria
could use thesc realms as the basis through which tú gain power and
influencepolitics at the cúurt. At the sametime, by couchingargumentsín
the languageof piety and familial devútion, andby delivering messages
through individuals such as conl’essúrs,early tnúdern royal wúmen
consciouslyemployedmale notions about female behaviortú their own
advantage.

> Se, for example,Margaretof Austria, CharlesY’ s aun<, governed<he Nether[<snds [mm [507 <o
ISIS, and again from [519 <o [530. Shewas replacedat her dea<bhy Maria of Hungary.sisíerof Charles
Y, who ruled untiL [555. Emprs=ssMaría, daughlerof Charlesy, servedasjoinl-regent of Castile from
[548 lo [551: IsabelClaraEugenia,Philip [lis sister,servedasjoiní. ruler of <he Ne<hcrlandsfrom [598 lo
1621, aocI as soleruler from [621 lo [633. As A.W. lavenpoin<s oso.. <he I-lahsbttrgsrequired“for<iluc[e
<uticí self-s<scrificc” of íheir females,Lar/y IIabs/ts.srg Spain. 15/7- 1598 (Oxford aticí New York, 1 986),p.
25.


